IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

.

ENRIQUE RODRIGUEZ, AN INDIVIDUAL, Appellant, vs.	Case No.:	72098	Electronically Filed Aug 01 2017 08:36 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court
FIESTA PALMS, LLC, A NEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY, D/B/A PALMS CASINO RESORT, N/K/A FCH1, LLC, A NEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY, Respondents.	11	C	thth Judicial District le Joe Hardy

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Marquis Aurbach Coffing

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Appellant, Enrique Rodriguez ("Rodriguez"), appeals from an order denying his motion for NRCP 60 relief, which was filed on December 28, 2016. Appellant's Appendix ("AA")5:966–972. Rodriguez timely filed his notice of appeal on January 5, 2017. AA5:973–975. Rodriguez has appealed from a special order entered after final judgment, which is appealable according to NRAP 3A(b)(8). *Ford v. Branch Banking & Trust Co.*, 353 P.3d 1200, 1202 (Nev. 2015).

II. <u>ROUTING STATEMENT</u>

This case is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court per NRAP 17(a)(13) and (14) because it involves issues of first impression that are of statewide public importance. This case involves unique issues regarding pro se plaintiffs and case-concluding discovery sanctions, including the application of the factors outlined in *Young v. Johnny Ribeiro Bldg., Inc.*, 106 Nev. 88, 787 P.2d 777 (1990). This case also involves a legal question regarding an NRCP 60(b) motion that was filed in a "reasonable time," as outlined in NRCP 60(b), specifically as to a party's diligence when a newly-appearing attorney prepares an NRCP 60(b) motion. Finally, this case involves important issues pertaining to NRCP 60(b) motions outside the context of default judgments for failure to answer.

III. ISSUES ON APPEAL

A. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY DENYING NRCP 60(b) RELIEF TO RODRIGUEZ WHEN:

(1) RODRIGUEZ DEMONSTRATED EXCUSABLE NEGLECT DUE TO THE LACK OF NOTICE FOR HEARING DATES, THE WITHDRAWAL OF HIS ATTORNEY LESS THAN TWO MONTHS PRIOR TO TRIAL, AND HIS SEVERE HEALTH PROBLEMS WHILE HE DILIGENTLY SOUGHT NEW COUNSEL;

(2) THE DISTRICT COURT FAILED TO ADEQUATELY CONSIDER THE FACTS AND CIRCUMSTANCES SURROUNDING PADDA'S WITHDRAWAL;

(3) RODRIGUEZ TIMELY FILED HIS NRCP 60(b) MOTION, WHICH THE DISTRICT COURT ERRONEOUSLY DEEMED "UNREASONABLE"; AND

(4) THE DISTRICT COURT CHARACTERIZED THE CASE-CONCLUDING DISMISSAL AS A DISCOVERY SANCTION BUT DID NOT CONSIDER THE *YOUNG* FACTORS.

B. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO DISQUALIFY ITSELF OR TO PROVIDE THE PARTIES AN OPPORTUNITY TO EVALUATE A POSSIBLE CONFLICT OUTSIDE THE PRESENCE OF THE JUDGE, WHEN THE JUDGE'S LAW CLERK PREVIOUSLY WORKED AS A LAW CLERK FOR DEFENSE COUNSEL'S LAW FIRM.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In this appeal, Rodriguez challenges the District Court's denial of his NRCP 60(b) motion, which requested that the District Court set aside the orders dismissing his case and granting 16 motions in limine as unopposed, shortly after the withdrawal of Rodriguez's former attorney, which was only two months before trial. Rodriguez's case arises from an incident at the Palms Resort (a.k.a. Fiesta Palms, hereinafter the "Palms") in which a blindfolded "Palms girl" threw promotional materials into a crowd of people in a sports bar, and a patron dove into Rodriguez, resulting in severe injuries to Rodriguez. AA1:20–29. After the District Court, as the trier of fact, awarded Rodriguez over \$6 million, the Palms appealed the decision based on evidentiary errors, and in the prior appeal to this Court, the District Court's decision was reversed and remanded for a new trial. AA1:98–117. After the remand to the District Court, Rodriguez's former trial counsel withdrew, and Rodriguez obtained new trial counsel. AA1:118–134, 143–144, 155.

After an approximately 18-week delay in obtaining a trial date due to multiple department reassignments (AA1:146, 163), the District Court granted the Palms' motion for jury trial (AA1:182–186), converting this bench trial case into a jury trial case. The Palms further delayed the trial date by two months, at which point Rodriguez's former attorney, Paul Padda, Esq. ("Padda"), filed a motion to withdraw as counsel a mere two months before trial because preparing the case for a three-week jury trial would be a financial burden. AA1:197–211, 226–227.

After filing his motion to withdraw, but before the District Court had granted his withdrawal, Padda did not attend a pre-trial conference in which the trial date was set. AA1:212–220. With his attorney not in attendance, only a minimal continuance was provided to Rodriguez for trial, even though he now needed to obtain a new attorney to get up to speed for a jury trial on a 10-year case—within only a matter of weeks.

The District Court granted Padda's motion to withdraw, which erroneously stated that Padda's withdrawal only two months before the jury trial would not be prejudicial to Rodriguez and that the Palms had agreed to some undefined "continuance" of the trial date. AA2:206–211. Despite EDCR 7.40(c) prohibiting the withdrawal of counsel if it will result in delay of the trial, Rodriguez was abandoned two months before a jury trial, with incomplete discovery and nothing but a request for a trial continuance submitted by his former attorney.

Less than two weeks after the order granting Padda's motion to withdraw (AA1:223–227), the Palms filed 18 motions, including 16 motions in limine, a motion for partial summary judgment, and a motion to dismiss. AA1:228–4:721. These motions included motions in limine to prevent testimony by Rodriguez's physicians, motions to bar evidence on certain damages, and, significantly, motions to bar testimony by the risk manager and the marketing director of the Palms, the two witnesses who were of critical importance to Rodriguez's prior bench trial. AA2:299–390, 398–404; AA3:471–495, 496–709. The motions in limine, in light of their content, would essentially eliminate Rodriguez's chances for success at a jury trial.

Rodriguez continued to search for an attorney. He appeared in the District Court for both the hearing on the motion to dismiss and the motions in limine to request continuances. AA4:722–728, 759–767. Regarding the motions in limine, Rodriguez explained to the District Court that he did not receive the motions in the mail, but the District Court determined that because Rodriguez appeared for the hearing, the motions must have been served upon him. AA4:736–737. Regarding the dispositive motions, Rodriguez believed that an attorney would attend the hearing for him and had confirmed the day before, but the attorney did not appear at the hearing. AA4:760–761. Rodriguez requested a continuance of "maybe a week" for the District Court to decide the dispositive motions. *Id*.

All 16 motions in limine were granted as unopposed, effectively destroying Rodriguez's case for trial. AA4:734; 4:769–775. Three days later, the District Court dismissed the entire case for failure to comply with discovery requirements. AA1:234; AA4:780–784. Yet, the case-concluding discovery sanctions were never brought to the Discovery Commissioner (EDCR 2.34(a)), and the District Court did not weigh the *Young* factors. *Young v. Johnny Ribeiro Bldg., Inc.*, 106 Nev. 88, 787 P.2d 777 (1990); *Chamberland v. Labarbera*, 110 Nev. 701, 704–705, 877 P.2d 523, 525 (1994) (applying the *Young* factors where sanctions are severe and effectively terminate the legal proceedings).

After the dismissal of his case, Rodriguez spent several months seeking counsel to assist him. He found a new attorney, Joel Selik, Esq. ("Selik"), who prepared an NRCP 60(b) motion based upon excusable neglect and mistake. AA4:788-871. Selik also submitted evidence including a declaration from Rodriguez's caretaker, explaining that Rodriguez needed assistance with even basic activities of daily living, such as cooking and showering. The declaration also explained that Rodriguez struggled with both his physical and mental health. AA4:868–871. The NRCP 60(b) motion argued that Rodriguez had no intent to delay the proceedings, had acted in good faith, and should have his case heard on the merits after actively and diligently prosecuting his case for ten years through trial and an appeal. AA4:788–871. The motion explained how Rodriguez contacted more than 20 law offices, and no attorney accepted the case so near to a jury trial with such a voluminous record. AA4:796–800, 806–808.

Despite the unusual facts and circumstances of this case, the District Court refused to grant NRCP 60(b) relief. The order denying relief concluded that Rodriguez's motion for relief was untimely because, although it was filed within six months from the dismissal order, Rodriguez allegedly "did nothing" for six months and did not file it in a "reasonable time" as required under NRCP 60(b). AA5:971. Rodriguez now appeals from the order denying his NRCP 60(b) motion.

V. STANDARDS OF REVIEW

This Court reviews a district court's decision "to grant or deny a motion to set aside a judgment under NRCP 60(b)" for an abuse of discretion. *Cook v. Cook*, 112 Nev. 179, 181–182, 912 P.2d 264, 265 (1996). However, the Court reviews de novo a district court's interpretation of the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure. *Moseley v. Dist. Ct.*, 124 Nev. 654, 662, 188 P.3d 1136, 1142 (2008).

The review of discovery abuse sanctions is deferential. *Havas v. Bank of Nevada*, 96 Nev. 567, 570, 613 P.2d 706, 707–708 (1980). Nevada's policy favoring disposition on the merits requires a heightened standard of review where a sanction imposed is liability-determining. *Id.*

VI. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

A. THE INCIDENT.

On November 22, 2004, Rodriguez was watching a football game in the sports bar/book at the Palms. AA1:4, ¶9. During half-time, women known as the "Palms girls" were throwing souvenirs to patrons while blindfolded. *Id.* A Palms girl, later identified as Brandy Beavers ("Beavers"), threw a souvenir while blindfolded. AA1:22–24. A customer dove for the thrown souvenir and hit Rodriguez's extended left knee. Rodriguez then struck the person next to him, hitting the left side of his head, and fell down. *Id.*, ¶11. Rodriguez sustained severe injuries from the incident.

B. THE EARLY CASE HISTORY, BENCH TRIAL, AND JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF RODRIGUEZ.

On November 15, 2006, Rodriguez filed a complaint in the District Court against the Palms. AA1:1–10. Rodriguez amended the complaint to include Beavers as a defendant after her identity was discovered. AA1:20–29. Rodriguez was represented by attorneys from the law firm Benson, Bertoldo, Baker & Carter n/k/a Bertoldo, Baker, Carter & Smith ("Baker"). A default against Beavers was entered in 2010. AA1:36–37, 87.

A bench trial was held in late 2010. AA1:39; AA3:661. After the close of evidence in the bench trial, the Palms moved for a mistrial, which was denied. AA1:43–47. At the conclusion of the bench trial, the District Court Judge Jessie Walsh granted Rodriguez's Rule 52 motion on liability against Palms. AA1:52–53. This ruling was based on trial evidence, including Palms employees' testimony stating: (1) throwing promotional items was inappropriate because it constituted a safety issue which foreseeably could cause injury to an individual; (2) meetings had been held to tell staff that items should not be thrown into crowds during promotional events; (3) the injuries suffered by Rodriguez were exactly the type that staff was concerned would occur if items were thrown; (4) Risk Manager testimony that throwing items into a crowd could foreseeably cause injury to someone in the audience, and throwing items into the crowd was inappropriate,

wrong and beneath the standard of care for the hotel in protecting the safety of their patrons on the premises. AA1:50. The Risk Manager also stated that she would have expected hotel security to stop anyone from throwing items. AA1:51. The District Court determined, as a matter of law, that the unequivocal testimony and undisputed facts established liability. AA1:51.

Following the bench trial, the judgment on the verdict was entered against the Palms and Beavers, jointly and severally, for \$6,051,589. AA1:73–75, 87–89. The findings of fact and conclusions of law in support of the verdict set forth Rodriguez's damages, including past and future medical expenses, pain and suffering, and lost income. AA1:79–81.

C. THE PALMS APPEALS THE JUDGMENT, AND THE CASE IS REVERSED AND REMANDED FOR A NEW TRIAL IN LATE 2014.

The Palms appealed the judgment based upon claimed evidentiary errors and the exclusion of expert witnesses, which was docketed as Case No. 59630. AA1:99–115. In 2014, this Court reversed and remanded for reassignment to a new District Court Judge and a new trial. AA1:112. The remittitur issued on November 4, 2014, nearly eight years after Rodriguez's complaint was filed. AA1:117.

D. RODRIGUEZ'S BENCH TRIAL ATTORNEYS WITHDRAW, AND RODRIGUEZ STRUGGLES TO FIND NEW COUNSEL.

Despite previously obtaining a \$6 million verdict, Rodriguez was faced with a pending new trial, and his trial attorneys withdrew from the case in December 2014. AA1:127–134. In early 2015, one month after the withdrawal of his attorney, a status check was held for a trial setting. AA1:135. Rodriguez requested a continuance to retain counsel, which the District Court granted. AA1:137. In this hearing, Judge Carolyn Ellsworth stated that she did not know if the parties wanted to move for a jury trial. AA1:139. She noted that Rodriguez's counsel had previously indicated that he had prepared the case as a bench trial, and it would be prejudicial to change that designation at the last minute. *Id*.

One month later, in February 2015, Rodriguez had just received his case file from his trial attorneys, Baker, and attended a status check and trial setting hearing. AA1:142. Rodriguez explained that he had met with attorneys but did not have his case file (over 50,000 pages) for the prospective attorneys to review. However, Rodriguez had meetings scheduled with Padda and another attorney, and Rodriguez believed Padda would be associating with attorney Robert Vannah. AA1:144. Rodriguez requested an additional 30 days for the prospective counsel to review the case documents. Counsel for the Palms, Justin Smerber, Esq. ("Smerber"), opposed Rodriguez's request, insisting upon a trial setting. The bench trial was placed on the August 2015 stack. AA1:146, 147. Notably, this trial stack was less than six months away, and Rodriguez remained unrepresented but scheduled meetings with attorneys. AA1:135, 144, 146. The District Court suggested that a motion for a jury trial be filed as soon as possible and stated that she would "be happy to have it as a jury trial." AA1:147.

Rodriguez filed a peremptory challenge of Judge Ellsworth pro se, and the case was reassigned to Judge Abbi Silver. AA1:151. In late March 2015 and April 2015, Padda specially appeared with Rodriguez and requested continuances for more time to discuss matters with Rodriguez, and mentioned that Robert Vannah might also appear in the case. Padda noted that Rodriguez was trying to obtain the funds needed to proceed with his case and the possibility of a settlement conference. During this period, the Palms' counsel informed the District Court that the Palms planned to file a motion for jury trial. AA1:153–154.

E. PADDA APPEARS AS COUNSEL FOR RODRIGUEZ IN MAY 2015, AND TRIAL IS SET FOR DECEMBER 2015.

Padda appeared in the District Court on May 12, 2015. AA1:155. But, the case had been reassigned to Judge Richard Scotti. However, this assignment was also short-lived, as Judge Scotti disqualified himself because he had worked on the case with his former firm, which had represented the Palms. AA1:157. The case

was then reassigned to Judge Joe Hardy. AA1:158. This was the fifth reassignment of the case between the remittitur in November 2014 and May 2015.

In a hearing on June 15, 2015, Judge Hardy disclosed that his law clerk "previously worked for the Moran firm once upon a time" but did "not recall ever having worked on this particular case." AA 1:165. Smerber stated that the law clerk, Mr. Beckstead, was not with the Moran law firm when the case was assigned to the firm, so he did not see how it would be a conflict. AA1:165. But, the Moran law firm appeared in the case as defense counsel since the outset of the case in 2007. AA1:11–19.

Prior to the reassignment, this case was set for an August 3, 2015 trial. AA1:146. Due to the department reassignment, the trial date was reset to a December 14, 2015 jury trial on a stack, with this case being number one on the stack. AA1:163. **The change in department, therefore, delayed the trial date for four and one-half months in late 2015.** AA1:146, 163. Smerber requested three weeks for the jury trial. AA1:175. In July 2015, the District Court granted the Palms' motion for jury trial. AA1:182–186.

F. THE PALMS REQUESTS A CONTINUANCE OF TRIAL DUE TO A PERSONAL MATTER OF ITS COUNSEL, AND THE TRIAL IS CONTINUED TO A STACK BEGINNING FEBRUARY 2016.

The parties appeared for a status check in late September 2015, when the trial date was set for December 2015. AA1:188, 163. The Palms' counsel, Smerber, explained that he had a personal matter that was going to take him out of the office for most of December, so Palms was "requesting a continuance beyond the new year." AA1:189. The District Court suggested a stack in late January, and counsel for the Palms asked for "the next one." AA1:190. A fifth amended order setting civil jury trial was entered on September 29, 2015, resetting trial for February 28, 2016. This continuance, requested by the Palms, delayed the case from a December 14, 2015 trial stack to a February 22, 2016 trial stack, delaying the case more than two months. AA1:163, 194–195.

G. PADDA FILES A MOTION TO WITHDRAW AS COUNSEL FOR RODRIGUEZ IN JANUARY 2016.

Approximately eight months after appearing as counsel for Rodriguez, and only five weeks before the February 2016 trial date, Padda filed a motion to withdraw as counsel. AA1:194–195, 197–211. Padda's stated reason for withdrawing was that as an owner of a small firm, he was limited in how much he could financially "invest" in the prosecution of certain cases, and the costs of a jury trial were different from a bench trial. AA1:199. Padda stated that he told

Rodriguez about the financial cost of a jury trial after the motion for jury trial was granted, and "**Mr. Rodriguez requested that I not withdraw from his case until he could locate other counsel**." *Id.*, ¶4. Padda's declaration explained that he informed Rodriguez in December 2015 that he could no longer remain in the case. Padda's declaration states, "**Mr. Rodriguez again requested I not withdraw** and notified me during our meeting that another attorney would be 'stepping in' to replace me." *Id.*, ¶5. Padda admitted that he had not been contacted by any other attorney, and the trial was "looming at the end of February 2016," (one month from the date the motion was filed), but Padda submitted his motion to withdraw. AA1:199.

Padda's declaration also stated:

Mr. Rodriguez will experience no material or adverse prejudice by undersigned counsel's withdrawal, since he previously acknowledged in a December 18, 2015 communication to undersigned counsel his understanding that this motion would eventually be filed.

AA1:200, ¶9. However, Padda requested the Court "continue the trial date to a reasonable time for Mr. Rodriguez to locate replacement counsel" and stated that the Palms' attorney "indicated he does not oppose this request." *Id.* Padda's motion to withdraw was based on NRPC 1.16(b)(7), "other good cause for withdrawal exists." AA1:201. Padda's motion argued that the withdrawal would

not "have any material or adverse effect on Mr. Rodriguez's interests, especially given opposing counsel's consent to a continuation of the trial date." *Id.*

H. PADDA FAILS TO ATTEND RODRIGUEZ'S PRE-TRIAL CONFERENCE IN FEBRUARY 2016.

Although Padda had submitted his motion to withdraw on January 19, 2016, an order had not been entered for the withdrawal in early February 2016. Nonetheless, Padda did not appear for the pre-trial conference on February 1, 2016. AA1:212–213. Smerber attempted to email Padda and call his office several times at the time of the pre-trial conference, and Padda's assistant stated that Padda was "in a meeting." AA1:212, 214. Smerber said he was willing to continue the trial date, but he would not waive the three-year rule or the five-year rule. AA1:215. The District Court reset the trial initially only one stack later, but Smerber explained he had previously agreed to provide Padda time to withdraw and new counsel to come on, so a new trial date was set for a stack beginning May 2, 2016, a continuance of approximately two months. AA1:215, 219–221. The sixth amended order setting civil jury trial was entered on February 4, 2016, and served upon Padda by email. AA1:221. Padda's motion to withdraw was granted on February 16, 2016. AA1:223.¹ Neither the order granting Padda's withdrawal nor his motion to withdraw advised Rodriguez of the trial dates. There is no evidence that after his attorney withdrew, from February 16, 2016, forward, from the time Rodriguez was representing himself, that Rodriguez was provided notice of the trial dates.

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