IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

* * * *

ENRIQUE RODRIGUEZ, AN INDIVIDUAL,

Electronically Filed Aug 25 2017 02:53 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

VS.

NO. 72098

FIESTA PALMS, LLC, A NEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY, D/B/A PALMS CASINO RESORT, N/K/A FCH1, LLC, A NEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY,

Respond	lents.
---------	--------

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

ROBERT L. EISENBERG (SBN 950) LEMONS, GRUNDY & EISENBERG 6005 Plumas Street, Third Floor Reno, NV 89519 775-786-6868 rle@lge.net

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENTS

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ENRIQUE RODRIGUEZ, AN INDIVIDUAL,

Appellant,

VS.

NO. 72098

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

In January of 2016, Padda moved to withdraw. The AOB states that Padda's reason for withdrawing was that he had a small firm, and he was limited financially because the case was a jury trial. AOB 13-14. Although financial reasons were mentioned in Padda's motion to withdraw, the **real** reason was that he and plaintiff had a "difference of opinion on how to best proceed in this litigation." 1 A.App. 199:18-19; 201:19-20. Padda explained to Plaintiff that "due to our difference of

opinion regarding this case, I can no longer effectively represent his interests." 1 A.App. 199:21-22. Padda had a meeting with Plaintiff on December 7, 2015, at which Plaintiff stated that another attorney would be stepping in to replace Padda. 1 A.App. 199:15-19.

A pretrial conference had been scheduled for February 1, 2016, but at that time neither Plaintiff nor an attorney on his behalf appeared at the hearing. 1 A.App. 213. Defense counsel Smerber explained that he had tried to contact Padda, without success. 1 A.App. 214. Smerber explained that he held off filing pretrial motions, as a courtesy to Padda. 1 A.App. 215:1-3. Smerber recommended that the case be placed on the next stack, to give Plaintiff time to obtain new counsel. 1 A.App. 215:4-7. The court rescheduled the pretrial conference, the calendar call and the trial stack. 1 A.App. 217:2-6. A copy of the court's scheduling order, which contained the new dates, was mailed to Plaintiff at his Riverside, California address. 1 A.App. 219-21.

Shortly thereafter, the court granted Padda's motion to withdraw, and a copy of the order was mailed to Plaintiff. 1 A.App. 223-24.

The Palms filed its motion to dismiss on March 7, 2016, nearly three months after Plaintiff met with Padda regarding Plaintiff retaining a new attorney. 1 A.App. 228. A copy of this motion, which included the hearing date (1 A.App.

230:3-5) was mailed to Plaintiff. 1 A.App. 235. The motion was based upon Plaintiff's failure to comply with mandatory rules. 1 A.App. 232-34.

On the same date, the Palms filed and served multiple motions in limine, all of which were mailed to Plaintiff. 2 A.App. 317, 397, 404, 410, 416, 423, 430, 436, 443, 449, 456, 463, 470; 3 A.App. 479, 502; 4 A.App. 717. Plaintiff's brief does not expressly accuse the Palms of filing the motions in limine improperly, but the brief seems to suggest that the Palms was taking advantage of Plaintiff's proper person status, or that the Palms was unfairly piling on multiple motions in limine. All motions in limine were required to be filed by March 7, 2016. 1 A.App. 219:25-26. The Palms was simply complying with this court-ordered deadline, by filing the motions on that date.

Plaintiff's brief points out that defense counsel's affidavit in support of the motions in limine was not signed, dated or notarized. AOB 17. Plaintiff is raising this point for the first time on appeal. If Plaintiff had raised the point in his motion for NRCP 60(b) relief, defense counsel would have had a fair opportunity to explain the situation regarding the affidavit—most likely just a clerical error. In any event, Plaintiff's brief fails to explain how his point regarding the affidavit has any relevance whatsoever on the only issue in this appeal, i.e., whether the district court abused its discretion by denying the NRCP 60(b) motion.

The court held a hearing on the motions in limine on April 7, 2016, and Plaintiff personally appeared. 4 A.App. 724. Plaintiff indicated he was still trying to obtain counsel. 4 A.App. 726:2-18. The court noted that Plaintiff had not filed opposition to the motions in limine, and the court granted the motions for this reason. 4 A.App. 725:13-18, 734:17-23. The district court warned Plaintiff about the need to do something in the case, and that a hearing was scheduled for the next week on the defense motion to dismiss. 4 A.App. 735:2-12.

At the hearing on April 7, 2016, Plaintiff tried to convince the court that he had not received court papers. He said that "[n]othing was received at my home," and he argued that he had not signed anything acknowledging receipt of papers. 4 A.App. 736:8-16. The judge was not convinced, informing Plaintiff that nothing needed to be signed for acknowledgement of receiving mail. 4 A.App. 736:13-15. Furthermore, Plaintiff's contention that he did not receive notices was obviously bogus, because he had appeared at the hearing, so he obviously received papers with the date and time of the hearing, as the judge noted with the rhetorical question: "Of course, that begs the question how are you here today?" 4 A.App. 736:20-21.

The next week, the court convened for a pretrial conference, but Plaintiff did not appear. 4 A.App. 754. This was despite the fact that a scheduling order had been mailed to Plaintiff, informing him of the hearing date. 1 A.App. 219-21. Defense counsel requested dismissal of the case, due to Plaintiff's failure to appear.

4 A.App. 755:11-14. The district court accommodated Plaintiff's proper person status, declining to grant the defense request for dismissal, and deciding to hold off on any rulings until another hearing the next week. 4 A.App. 756:5-16.

A hearing on the motion to dismiss was held on April 14, 2016, and Plaintiff attended the hearing. 4 A.App. 759. The court noted that Plaintiff had not filed opposition. 4 A.App. 760:10-15. Plaintiff indicated he was still trying to get counsel. 4 A.App. 760-63. The district court granted the motion, noting that Plaintiff was required to follow rules. 4 A.App. 765-66.

An order granting the defense motions in limine was entered on April 14, 2016, and notice of entry was served on Plaintiff on April 15, 2016. 4 A.App. 769-71. An order granting the motion to dismiss was entered on April 20, 2016, and notice of entry was served on Plaintiff the next day. 4 A.App. 780-82.

3. Plaintiff's motion for NRCP 60(b) relief

Plaintiff did not file an appeal from the dismissal order. Instead, he waited until October 14, 2016, at which time his new attorney, Mr. Selik, filed a motion under NRCP 60(b). 4 A.App. 788. This was exactly six months to the day since the hearing on the defense motion to dismiss; only seven days less than six months since notice of entry of the order of dismissal; and only two days less than six months since notice of entry on the orders in limine. Plaintiff admitted that he filed his motion "on the cusp of the six-month time limitation." 4 A.App. 798:2.

Plaintiff's motion falsely stated that Plaintiff had not been advised of, or given notice of, the trial date and related dates. E.g., 4 A.App. 790:13-24. This was demonstrably false, because Plaintiff had been given notice of the relevant dates, as noted above, and he had even appeared at hearings for which notices had been mailed to him.

Although Plaintiff's brief in this appeal places blame squarely on the Palms and its attorneys for Plaintiff's problems after the reversal and remand, Plaintiff's motion took the opposite view. The motion stated: "Plaintiff is seeking relief, not for anything defendants did, . . ." 4 A.App. 790:25 (emphasis added). The motion also stated: "It should be said at the outset, that defendants have not done anything wrong in regards to this matter, and this request is an imposition on them, . . ." 790:27-791:2 (emphasis added). At the hearing on the motion, Plaintiff's counsel told the court that the defendants are "completely blameless." 5 A.App. 951:9-10 (emphasis added).

Plaintiff's motion conceded that various notices were mailed to him, but he argued that such mailing was a "nullity" because Padda was technically still Plaintiff's counsel of record. 4 A.App. 791:17-18. Plaintiff cited no legal authority for the proposition that such a mailing is a nullity. Plaintiff argued that "technically, Plaintiff was never given proper notice of the trial dates, . . ." 4

A.App. 792:12-13. Plaintiff observed: "Plaintiff admits that the notice issue may be a technicality. . ." 4 A.App. 792:25.

Plaintiff's motion told the district court: "None of the prior attorneys withdrew having anything to do with Mr. Rodriguez, but withdrew for reasons of their own." 4 A.App. 796:27. This was false. There were two withdrawals in the record, **both** had everything to do with Plaintiff, including breakdowns in communication with him, and differences of opinion on how best to proceed in the litigation. 1 A.App. 122, 199, 201.

Plaintiff's motion made only vague and general references to his alleged difficulty in finding an attorney after the dismissal. 4 A.App. 798:12-16, 807:7-10. He provided no specifics about what he actually did during that six-month time frame before he filed his motion; he did not even indicate when he hired attorney Selik to file the motion. *Id*.

Plaintiff's motion also made a huge concession after recognizing that the motion was purely discretionary with the district court. Plaintiff conceded: "There are certainly reasons, in the case at bar, to deny this motion for relief, . . ." 4 A.App. 801:7.

The Palms filed an opposition to the motion. 5 A.App. 872. Plaintiff filed a reply. 5 A.App. 938. His reply admitted that the dismissal in this case, from which Plaintiff sought relief, was "certainly lawful." 5 A.App. 938:20. He also

asked the rhetorical question of "how many chances should a pro per litigant be given." 5 A.App. 939:10. He conceded that he already "did have several chances," and that "Plaintiff was given chances, even repeatedly, . . ." 5 A.App. 939:13-14, 18. Yet he asked the district court to give him "one more chance." 5 A.App. 939:22.

As noted above, Plaintiff's reply also conceded that if the district court denied relief, a reversal would "not be likely." 5 A.App. 940:7. And he conceded that the points made in the defense opposition to the motion were "certainly well taken, and a strong argument can be made to not grant the relief, . . ." 5 A.App. 940:13-14.

The district court held a hearing on the motion on November 15, 2016. 5 A.App. 949. As noted earlier in this reply brief, Plaintiff's counsel correctly characterized his motion as similar to requesting a "fourth out" in the bottom of the ninth inning of a baseball game, or making a Hail Mary desperation pass at the end of a football game. 5 A.App. 950-51. Although counsel requested the district court to grant relief from the dismissal order, counsel also conceded that "Your Honor's dismissal of the case at that time was well within your discretion." 5 A.App. 951:16-17. Counsel provided no real argument establishing grounds for Rule 60(b) relief, other than a desperate plea to give Plaintiff "one more chance." 5 A.App. 952:15. Counsel then conceded that the district court's ruling on the motion for relief was "clearly in Your Honor's discretion." 5 A.App. 959:18-19. The

district court exercised its discretion by denying the motion. 5 A.App. 960-61, 968-72. This appeal followed.

<u>Argument</u>

1. Standard of Review

Plaintiff asserts that this court reviews an NRCP 60(b) ruling for abuse of discretion. AOB 7. We agree. Plaintiff also contends, however, that this court reviews a district court's interpretation of NRCP provisions *de novo*. AOB 7. Although this might be correct in the abstract, it is not applicable here. Plaintiff's Rule 60(b) motion did not ask the district court to interpret any NRCP provisions, and the district court did not do so. Additionally, Plaintiff's motion asserted: "On appeal, the appellate court uses the 'abuse of discretion' standard of review." 4 A.App. 795:6-7. At the hearing on the motion, Plaintiff's counsel argued that the decision on the motion was "clearly in Your Honor's discretion." 5 A.App. 959:18-19. In fact, Plaintiff's counsel even argued that the district court's earlier order dismissing the case "was well within your discretion." 5 A.App. 951:17.

Therefore, the only standard of review applicable here is abuse of discretion.

2. Plaintiff improperly relies on Judge Walsh's award.

Judge Walsh awarded \$6 million after a bench trial, and Plaintiff's brief repeatedly refers to the award, as if it somehow reflects the strength or value of Plaintiff's case. E.g., AOB 3, 10, 19. The award was meaningless, irrelevant and

fatally flawed. This court unanimously reversed the award in *FCH1*, where the court found that Judge Walsh erroneously refused to consider admissible testimony of two defense witnesses, and she erroneously considered inadmissible testimony of three expert witnesses for Plaintiff.

Judge Walsh applied a wrong standard for expert witnesses, and she improperly struck and refused to consider testimony of the key defense expert on liability. This court noted that Plaintiff "did not present any expert testimony to the contrary," and the defense expert's testimony "could reasonably have shifted the district court's verdict in the Palms' favor." *FCH1* at ____, 335 P.3d at 188. The defense expert "offered a definitive opinion based on research and expertise, not speculation," and Judge Walsh's order striking his testimony was prejudicial error, because "it is probable that but for this erroneous ruling a different result might have been reached on the matter of Palms' breach." *Id.* at ____, 335 P.3d at 188-89.

Judge Walsh also erroneously struck and refused to consider the testimony of a defense economist, whose testimony attacked Plaintiff's evidence on damages; and the judge erroneously admitted and considered testimony by three of Plaintiff's treating physicians. *Id.* at ____, 335 P.3d at 189-90. Judge Walsh's award was so infected with error that this court took the unusual step of ordering the case assigned to a different judge on remand. *Id.* at ____, 335 P.3d at 190.

Under these circumstances, Judge Walsh's award deserves no weight whatsoever, and this court should ignore Plaintiff's reliance on the award as somehow indicating that Plaintiff has a legitimate multimillion dollar case.

3. The district judge did not err by failing to disqualify himself.

At the hearing on June 15, 2015, the district judge voluntarily disclosed information regarding his law clerk. The entire colloquy between the judge and counsel is as follows:

THE COURT: Okay. Before we begin, I need to disclose that my Law Clerk previously worked for the Moran firm once upon a time. Does not recall ever having worked on this particular case. So, I don't see that as a reason to recuse myself but need to make you aware of that.

MR. PADDA: Thank you, Your Honor. I appreciate that.

MR. SMERBER: I can also represent to the Court, Mr. Beckstead was actually not with our firm when we had this case assigned to us.

THE COURT: Oh. Okay.

Mr. SMERBER: So, I don't see how that would be in conflict.

THE COURT: That would explain why I [he] didn't recall the case,

then. Thank you.

1 A.App. 165:11-25.

Plaintiff's attorney did not ask for any additional information, and he did not ask for an opportunity to evaluate a possible conflict. The topic was dropped, and it was never mentioned again at that hearing or anywhere else in the 1,004 pages in

Plaintiff's appendix in this appeal. Importantly, Plaintiff never filed a motion to disqualify the judge, and the issue was not raised in Plaintiff's NRCP 60(b) motion.

Plaintiff's brief now argues that the district court erred by failing to disqualify himself, or by failing to provide the parties an opportunity to evaluate a possible conflict. AOB 45-51. The issue was not preserved for appeal, and the issue is frivolous.

a. The issue was not preserved for appeal.

This court does not consider issues raised for the first time on appeal. See Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown, 97 Nev. 49, 52, 623 P.2d 981, 983 (1981). This rule applies to appellate contentions dealing with disqualification of judges, because these contentions can and should be raised initially in the district court. See Teagues v. State, 2016 WL 3213541 *1, fn.1 (Nev. Ct. App.; unpublished; No. 68327; May 26, 2016); see also State v. Rizzo, 31 A.3d 1094, 1125 (Conn. 2011) (appellate courts do not review judicial disqualification claims raised for the first time on appeal, because the parties, by failing to object, are deemed to have consented to participation of the judge).

In *Brown v. Federal Sav. & Loan Ins. Corp.*, 105 Nev. 409, 777 P.2d 361 (1989), the trial judge's daughter was employed as a law clerk at the firm representing a party in a case pending before the judge. The appellants were defendants in the case. Although other co-defendants filed a motion for recusal,

appellants did not file their own motion, and they did not join in the other defendants' motion. This court held that the appellants failed to preserve the issue for appeal, and waived the issue, as a result of their failure to file a motion for recusal. *Id.* at 412, 777 P.2d at 363.

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